A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

American Pension Services, Inc. (American) is the holder of an IRA 

federal pension plan for Manfred E. Scharig operating under Section 408 of 

the United States Internal Revenue Code. 

B. DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS 

The Appellate Court held in a decision dated August 3, 2015 (Ex. 1 ), 

that an owelty common law judgment lien only attaches to real property in 

which it was originally produced. 

The Court also reversed an award of$3,636 to American and affirmed 

all of the credits the trial court granted to Sandra Barth. 

C. ERRORS CLAIMED 

1. Did the Court of Appeals wrongly conclude that a common law 

owelty judgment lien was a special type of lien that does not 

attach, under RCW 4.56.190, to other held real property ofthe 

debtor? 

2. Does a common law owelty lien have priority under the partition 

distribution statute RCW 7.52.220(3) over any claim by a co

tenant? 
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3. Did the Court of Appeals wrongly reverse the original trial court 

award to American based upon the equitable law of the case in 

approving of all Barth's credits? 

D. STATEMENTOFTHECASE 

This appeal arises out of a marriage dissolution between 

Patrick Hafey and his former wife, Tammy Hafey, in July of2009. 

The entire marital community assets were divided, and Tammy was 

awarded a $150,000 owelty judgment to equalize the division of 

community asset~ ·,Snohomish County Clerk's Judgment 

#09-908283-2. It was secured by a note and deed of trust on the 

family home. 

Tammy subsequently assigned the judgment and note to 

American for collection and Patrick went into default. Patrick was 

unable to make his mortgage payments on the family home and it 

was foreclosed. American received $44,253 from the excess 

foreclosure proceeds as a third tier mortgage. Those monies were 

applied to the $150,000 owelty judgment debt due. 

Patrick's mother died, leaving her home to Patrick and his 

sister, Sandra Barth, as tenants in common. The brother and sister 

did not get along well, and Sandra alone brought an action for 

partition of the home. She asked for maintenance, upkeep and repair 

costs to be paid by her brother. Sandra lived in Minneapolis but she 
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became angry when her brother, who had temporarily moved into the 

residence, did not vacate immediately. 

Sandra did not seek a statutory partition court referee: She 

conducted the sale, maintenance, upkeep and repairs by herself. 

Patrick was ejected from the house by default. There was no hearing 

on the merits of his rights to reside in his mother's home or exclusion 

of Sandra. 

The sale in the partition produced $219,348. At a hearing in 

the trial court, Patrick was awarded $3,646 of this amount for his 1;2 

share. The trial court ruled that American's judgment did not attach at 

all. A few days later, the trial court ruled that American's owelty 

judgment attached Patrick's interest and American received the 

$3,646. This amount was applied to the $150,000 owelty judgment 

debt that Patrick owed to American. 

On appeal from the Amended Order of the trial court, the 

Court of Appeals reversed the award of American and affirmed the 

balance of the Order. American, as a result, receives nothing. This 

petition followed. 

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

1. AN OWELTY JUDGMENT IS NOT AN 
EXCLUDABLE LIEN UNDER OUR GENERAL 
JUDGMENT STATUTE RCW 4.56.190. 
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This question is one of first impression. Judgment statute RCW 

4.56.190 provides in part: 

"The real estate of any judgment debtor, 
and such as the judgment debtor may 
acquire, not exempt by law, shall be held and 
bound to satisfy any judgment of the 
..... superior court ..... " 

The statute further provides: 

"If a judgment debtor owns real estate, 
subject to execution, jointly or in common 
with any other person, the judgment shall 
be a lien on the interest of the defendant 
only." (Emphasis Added). 

The Appellate Court singled out an owelty judgment lien as 

narrow in scope and unlike other general judgment liens under RCW 

4.56.190. The Court cites no case law for this proposition, or 

statutory authority. It basically relies on the equitable powers of the 

Court as a legal format for ruling. It disregards the plain and 

unambiguous meaning of the statute and its intent and purpose. 

As a result, American's original award of the trial court of $3,646 

(1.2% ofthe total proceeds) was cancelled and the balance ofBarth's 

award was approved in full. 

Appellant has been unable to locate a Washington case on the 

point. But the statute is not ambiguous and requires no 

interpretation. If the legislature had wanted to except owelty 
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judgment liens from the scope of the statute, it would have said 

so. The intent of the legislature is ordinarily determined by 

reading the statute and giving the plain meanings of the 

provisions their ordinary meanings. State ex rel. State 

Retirement Board v. Yelle, 31 Wn. 2d 87, 195 Pac. 2d 646,201 

Pac. 2d 172 (1948). 

The Court's use ofln reMarriage of Wintermute, 70 Wn. 

App. 741,745,855 Pac. 2d 1186 (1993) to justify its 

characterization of special liens for owelty is inapposite. The 

parties in Wintermute were divorced and the husband was given 

an owelty judgment lien in the sum of$12,000. The wife failed 

to pay the lien. The husband waited for over 1 0 years to attempt 

to collect the lien and moved for a receiver for the real property. 

The defense alleged the 10 year statute of limitations barred 

collection. This defense was denied. On appeal, the Court held 

that that the statute RCW 4.56.190 was not a true statute of 

limitations because the lien was itself payable within 8 years and 

the lien was payable only when the payment deadline arrived 

within the 1 0 year period. The decisions had nothing to do with 

finding an owelty judgment lien a special lien, unenforceable 

under RCW 4.56.190, and not on point. 

5 



It is legally and practically more appropriate to be able to 

enforce an owelty judgment lien on other property interests of 

the original debtor because of the basic equitable nature of such a 

lien and its full collectability as originally intended. This appears 

to be the intention ofRCW 4.56.190 when ~ncompasses the 

real estate that any judgment debtor may acquire. 

2. AN OWELTY JUDGMENT HAS PRIORITY 
OVER OTHER CLAIMS IN A PARTITION 
OF REAL PROPERTY 

Under RCW 7.52.220, the proceeds from a partition sale 

shall be distributed in accordance with satisfying liens in their 

order of priority. The question of priority under this statute is 

also one of first impression. Appellant cannot cite Washington 

authority for the law, but can, and does cite, other secondary 

authority for the priority of owelty judgments over other claims 

and liens when it becomes an issue. 

In Reed v. Fidelity Ins. Trust, 6 Atl. 163, 113 Pa. 574, Mr. 

Egner owned an undivided 1/7 interest in a parcel of land. He 

mortgaged that interest and later brought an action for partition. 

The land was sold to Mr. Reed and charged by the Court with 

$4,796, the amount owed on the mortgage by Mr. Egner. Fidelity 

took an assignment of Mr. Reed's purchaser's interest and was 
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granted an owelty judgment lien amount in the sum of$4,766 

because of its owelty judgment priority over all other claims. 

In Stewart v. Allegheny National Bank, 101 Pa. 342 (1882), an 

owelty interest received priority over all other claims. Here a father 

and son owned a 50% interest each in real property as co-tenants. 

The father died, leaving his interest to his co-tenant son and four 

other children. The co-tenant son mortgaged his interest and later 

assigned that mortgage to Allegheny. The mortgage went into 

default and Allegheny foreclosed. The 50% son brought a partition 

action. Eva Stewart purchased the property in the partition sale and 

made a claim for all rents collected on the property by Allegheny 

Bank. On distribution of the partition proceeds, the Court held, as a 

matter of law, that the owelty judgment lien of Allegheny had 

priority over all other claims, including the claim of Eva Stewart for 

rent. 

Priority of owelty liens over other claims in a partition action 

should be adopted in Washington. An owelty judgment stems 

from an equitable division of property in some form, not 

necessarily marriage dissolution. It's in the nature of a vendor's 

lien which allows the seller of real property the means of 

securing the unpaid portion of the selling price. Adams V. Rowe, 
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39 Wash. 2d 448, 238 Pac 2d 355 (1951). It seems only fair, 

legally and equitably, to give owelty a priority against other later 

claims and creditors. 

3. PARTITION IS AN EQUITABLE ACTION 
BETWEEN CO-TENANTS AND PROHIBITS 
DEPRIVING ONE CO-TENANT OF THE 
ENTIRE SALES PROCEEDS FROM THE 
OTHER CO-TENANT 

The decision of the Court of Appeals divests American from 

any of the partition proceeds and awards all of the proceeds to 

Barth, except the $3,646. The creation of an exception, to the 

general judgment statute for owelty liens has been discussed 

above. The affirmance of certain credits are outlined and 

disputed below by American on the basis of fair and reasonable 

equity failure. 

A. Rent. 

Patrick and Sandra were brother and sister. They were 

tenants in common in their mother's residence. Each owned an 

undivided one half interest. Iredell v. Iredell, 49 Wn. 2d 627, 

305 Pac. 2d 805 (1957). Fulton v. Fulton, 57 Wn. 2d 331 (1960). 

Both are entitled to possession of the co-tenancy unless one is 

ousted or excluded by the other. 
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Patrick was divorced and lost his own home when 

financial problems came upon him. He and his family had 

nowhere to go, and they moved into his mother's home on a 

temporary basis. The figure used by the Court of Appeals for 

the time Patrick and his family lived in his mother's house is 

not borne out of Barth's own sworn Answers to American's 

Interrogatories. The Answers state that, as of February 12, 

2013, Patrick's occupancy of his mother's home was unknown, 

and makes the total days of occupation, used by the Court, 

suspect.Patrick has just as much right as his sister occupy the 

premises. The home was empty and subject to vandalism and 

theft. Sandra was in Minnesota and not in Everett, Washington, 

to protect the property. There was no court referee appointed to 

oversee the partition action, leaving Sandra to dictate all the 

terms and conditions of the action. The ejectment of Patrick was 

not on the merits, but by Qefault. At one stage of the rent 

problem, Sandra agreed herself to Patrick's occupancy and has 

the burden of proving ouster or exclusion. 

A charging of rent allowed by the trial and appellate 

Courts of $61 ,307 is not only inequitable because there was never 

an ouster or exclusion by Patrick, it is an arbitrary figure 
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and entirely inequitable as between the parties and created to 

serve, not Patrick who apparently had no funds, but as an "offset" 

against American. His is particularly true because of no hearing 

on the merits. Sandra failed to carry her burden of proving ouster 

or exclusion. 

B. Repairs and Enhancement Value 

The Appellate Court confused the sum of$53,700 referred to 

in its footnote (Decision Ex. 1, p. 6), and as a result gave no credit to 

Patrick for ~the enhanced value of $53,700. The Exhibit of 

American showed $53,700 each as a claim of Sandra for both repairs 

and enhancement value. The point missed by the Appellate Court 

was that Sandra took the entire sum of credit and did not share the 

$53,700 enhanced value with her brother at all, while the Court 

believed she did. In other words, Patrick was charged for ~ of the 

$53,700 repair costs. The repairs enhanced the value of the property 

another $53,700. Sandra got all the enhanced value while charging 

her brother ~ the repairs to enhance it. 

The general rule is that a co-tenant cannot recover for 

repairs and improvement value without the consent or request of 

her co-tenant. Our Court has taken a reasonable equitable 

approach to solve the problem. Hamlin v. Hamlin, 90 Wn. 467, 

10 



155 Pac. 393 (1916). This case was a partition oftwo parcels of 

real property. A court referee divided the parcels and one of the 

parcel owners excepted to the referee's report. The appellate 

Court approved the report as equitably carried out, taking into 

account improvements placed on the land. In approving an 

equitable approach to the division, the Court stated: 

"Various equities may exist in favor of a co
Tenant which are not so absolute in character, 
that they can be enforced against the other 
Co-tenants ..... unless their action in favor of 
one co-tenant must operate inequitably to another." 

Barth's claim of$53,700 for repairs (charging her brother lh) 

plus $53,700 for enhancement value (and not crediting her brother 

lh) is without equitable consideration and wrong. The Appellate 

Court mistakenly believed Sandra shared these costs of the enhanced 

value. She didn't, and took the entire credit. 
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F. CONCLUSIONS 

This appeal raises serious matters of first impression. This 

Court should grant review. 

II.