I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENTS I CROSS-APPELLANTS 

Respondents/cross-appellants Thomas and Sandra Barth (the 

"Barths") submit this answer to the Petition for Review filed by Appellant/ 

cross-respondent American Pension Services, Inc. ("American Pension").

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

This case involved an action for ejectment and partition of a 

single-family residential property located at 3017 1201
h Pl. SE, in Everett, 

Washington (hereinafter the "Property"), and the disbursement of 

proceeds from the court -authorized sale of the Property. 

In 2002, siblings Sandra Barth and Patrick Hafey acquired title to 

the Property as tenants in common (each holding a one-half interest). 

Beginning in November 2009, Patrick Hafey disregarded all efforts by the 

Barths to manage or sell the Property, and exerted sole control of the 

Property to the exclusion of the Barths. 

In August 2012, the Barths filed a complaint against Patrick Hafey 

for partition and ejectment. In May 2013, the trial court entered an order 

of default and default judgment against Patrick Hafey. 

In November 2012, the trial court entered an order joining 

American Pension as an additional defendant. American Pension claimed 

an owelty or equalizing lien against the one-half interest of Patrick Hafey 

in the Property. In 2009, Patrick Hafey and Tammy M. Hafey had 
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dissolved their marriage. As part of their dissolution decree, Tammy 

Hafey had obtained an owelty lien in the amount of $150,000 to equalize 

the distribution of their former family home awarded to Patrick Hafey. 

The former family home was located at 12020 52"d Ave. S.E., in Everett, 

Washington. In October 2009, Tammy Hafey assigned her interest in the 

owelty lien to American Pension. 

As part of this partition action, the trial court authorized a private 

sale of the Property. The Property sold in November 2013, and sale 

proceeds amounting to $219,348.07 were deposited into the registry of the 

court. 

American Pension appealed from the Amended Order issued by 

Judge George F. Appel of the Snohomish County Superior Court entered 

on May 22, 2014, disbursing the proceeds from the court-authorized sale 

of the Property. 

The Barths filed a cross-appeal from the trial court's ruling in the 

Amended Order that the owelty or equalizing lien, assigned to American 

Pension by Tammy Hafey (Patrick Hafey's ex-wife), attached to the one

half interest of Patrick Hafey in the real property at issue in this partition 

action. The trial court had initially ruled two days earlier, in its Order 

dated May 20, 2014, that American Pension's owelty lien did not attach to 

Patrick Hafey's half interest in the subject property. The Amended Order 
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changed the recipient of the $3,646.75 (relating to Patrick Hafey's half 

interest) in sale proceeds from Patrick Hafey to owelty lien holder 

American Pension. 

In a unanimous unpublished decision dated August 3, 2015, the 

Court of Appeals, Division One, affirmed the Superior Court's Amended 

Order (with the exception of accepting the Barth's position on cross-

appeal that the trial court erred in finding that American Pension's owelty 

lien attached to the subject Property). See Opinion (American Pension's 

Petition for Review, Appendix A). 

For purposes of this Answer, the Barths adopt and incorporate 

additional facts as set forth in the decision of the Court of Appeals. 

III. ARGUMENT 

A. None of the Grounds Warranting Acceptance of Discretionary 
Review Under RAP 13.4(b) are Present in this Case. 

This Court should deny review of this matter because the issues 

raised in American Pension's Petition for Review do not satisfy any of the 

criteria for review under RAP 13.4(b). 

Under RAP 13.4(b), this Court will accept a petition for review of 

a Court of Appeals decision only: 

(1) if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a 
decision of the Supreme Court; or 
(2) if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with 
another decision of the Court of Appeals; or 

3 



(3) if a significant question of law under the Constitution of 
the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or 
( 4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public 
interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. 

RAP 13 .4(b ). 

In this regard, American Pension's Petition for Review does not 

even cite RAP 13.4(b), let alone contain a statement or explanation as to 

how the Court of Appeals decision involves any of the criteria for review 

under this rule. Rather, American Pension makes conclusory statements 

that the issues raised on appeal are either issues of first impression or are 

"disputed on the basis of fair and reasonable equity failure." See Petition 

for Review, pp. 4, 6, 8). 

American Pension's discontent with the Courts' rulings and 

distribution of the sale proceeds in this partition action does not qualify for 

discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b). Accordingly, since none of the 

grounds for review set forth under RAP 13 .4(b) are present, this Court 

should deny further review. 

B. The Court of Appeals Decision is Consistent with Well 
Established Washington Law and Does Not Warrant Further 
Review. 

In its Petition for Review, American Pension raises an issue 

concerning the application of equitable principles related to the 

distribution of the sale proceeds in this partition action. 
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In its opinion, the Court of Appeals emphasized a key 

consideration in partition matters: 

A partition action is an equitable one wherein the court has 
great flexibility in fashioning appropriate relief for the parties. 
Friend v. Friend. 92 Wn. App. 799, 803, 964 P.2d 1219 
(1998); Cummings v. Anderson, 94 Wn.2d 135, 143,614 P.2d 
1283 ( 1980). A court has broad power respecting liens against 
real property to provide equitable remedies. McKnight v. 
Basilides, 19 Wn.2d 391, 408, 143 P.2d 307 (1943); see 
MGIC Financial Corp. v. H.A. Briggs Co., 24 Wn. App. 1, 6, 
600 P.2d 573 (1979). 

See Opinion, p. 6. Furthermore, the court reviews an equitable remedy for 

abuse of discretion. I d. 

Here, the Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the trial court's 

exercise of its broad equitable powers in fashioning appropriate relief for 

the parties under the factual circumstances presented. 

I. The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the trial court's 
ruling that American Pension's owelty lien was subordinate 
to the Barths' claims of offsets and reimbursements against 
Patrick Hafey's one-half interest in the property. 

The Court of Appeals found that the the trial court properly 

exercised its broad equitable powers in concluding that American 

Pension's owelty lien was subordinate to the Barths' claims against 

Patrick Hafey's one-half interest in the Property. The basis for that 

conclusion is clear and reasoned as set forth in the Court of Appeals 

opinion. 
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RCW 7.52.220 provides authority for the distribution of 

sale proceeds in a partition sale: 

The proceeds of the sale of the encumbered property shall be 
distributed by the decree of the court, as follows: 
(1) To pay its just proportion ofthe general costs ofthe suit. 
(2) To pay the costs of the reference. 
(3) To satisfy the several liens in their order of priority, by 
payment of the sums due, and to become due, according to the 
decree. 
(4) The residue among the owners of the property sold, 
according to their respective shares. 

RCW 7 .52.220. Importantly, the Court of Appeals noted: 

'[A] court in the exercise of its equitable powers may fashion 
remedies to address the particular facts of each case, even if 
the partition statute does not strictly provide for such a 
remedy.' Kelsey v. Kelsey, 179 Wn. App. 360, 369, 317 P.3d 
1096, review denied, 180 Wn.2d 1017, 327 P.3d 54 (2014) 
and cert. denied, 135 S. Ct. 451, 190 L. Ed. 2d 330 (2014). 
Thus '[w]hile the statutory provision provides guidance to a 
court in a partition action, it does not mark the outer limits of a 
court's exercise of its equitable powers. Kelsey, 179 Wn. 
App. at 368. 

See Opinion, p. 7. 

Here, the Court of Appeals correctly determined that "[t]he trial 

court here properly exercised its broad equitable powers in finding that 

American's claims to Patrick's one-half interest in the proceeds were 

subordinate to the Barth's claims." See Opinion, p. 7. The trial court had 

appropriately fashioned an equitable remedy and distribution based on the 

specific factual circumstances presented in this case. The Court of 

Appeals noted that: "Patrick [Hafey] was exclusively in control of the 
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Property for 44 months, benefited from possession and left the Property in 

disrepair.'' See Opinion, at 7. Moreover, and as the Court of Appeals 

found, the trial court then fashioned an equitable remedy of reimbursing 

the Barths for ( 1) the enhanced value of the Property resulting from the 

Barths' improvements to the Property; (2) the reasonable rental value of 

Patrick Hafey's ongoing possession of the Property; (3) property taxes and 

insurance; and, ( 4) attorney fees incurred in litigating the action. The trial 

court did not abuse its discretion in finding that the Barths' offsets were 

superior to American's owelty claim. See Opinion, p. 8. 

In its Petition for Review, American Pension disregards the broad